
EXHIBIT 6



STATE OF ILLINOIS 
ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 

 
Cbeyond Communications, LLC  
  
-vs-      
  
Illinois Bell Telephone Company d/b/a 
AT&T Illinois 
 
Formal Complaint and Request for 
Declaratory Ruling pursuant to 
Sections 13-515 and 10-108 of the 
Illinois Public Utilities Act 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
 
Docket No. 10-0188 

 

 
CBEYOND COMMUNICATIONS, LLC 

RESPONSE BRIEF 
 

Cbeyond Communications, LLC (“Cbeyond”), by its attorneys Kelley Drye & Warren, 

LLP, states as follows for its Response Brief in support of its complaint brought pursuant to 

Sections 13-515, 9-250, 10-101 and 10-108 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act (“PUA”), and 

pursuant to Sections 200.170 and 200.220 of the Illinois Administrative Code (“Code”). 

I. SUMMARY 

AT&T and Staff ignore the fact that federal law and the parties’ interconnection agreement 

provide that Enhanced Extended Links (“EEL”) are comprised of two or more individual and 

indivisible unbundled network elements (“UNE”), and that EELs are not independent UNEs 

themselves.  See 47 U.S.C. § 51.307(d); Interconnection Agreement between Cbeyond and AT&T 

(“ICA”), §§ 9.1.3, 9.1.4.  As a result, AT&T and Staff fundamentally misinterpret AT&T’s 

responsibilities under the ICA and federal and state law. 

AT&T and Cbeyond agree that two contractual provisions govern this case:  (1) Article 9, 

Section 9.3.3.4, provides that Cbeyond “shall issue appropriate service requests” to obtain UNE 

combinations; and (2) the TRO/TRRO Amendment, section 6.1, which provides that Cbeyond 
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shall have access to UNE combinations provided “the rates, terms and conditions under which 

such Section 251 UNEs are to be provided are included within the CLEC’s underlying 

Agreement.”  ICA, Section 9.3.3.4; TRO/TRRO, Section 6.1.1  So the question is:  What is an 

“appropriate service request” when Cbeyond wishes to modify only the transport portion of a 

combination of a UNE loop and a UNE transport.  Under the ICA and the law, Cbeyond is entitled 

to replace the UNE transport without also having to re-order and re-pay for the UNE loop.  It is 

illegal to tie the availability of one UNE to the purchase of another UNE.  Yet, that is precisely 

what AT&T and Staff are apparently now suggesting to the Commission.  Their suggestion should 

be squarely rejected. 

AT&T and Staff’s misunderstanding of the law on UNEs is fatal to their position in this 

case. AT&T treats an EEL as a singular item and insists that there is no way to change the 

transport portion of an EEL without disconnecting and replacing the whole EEL.  Staff agrees, 

apparently based on its mistaken belief that there is no specific rate for disconnecting the transport 

portion of an EEL. Staff and AT&T are both incorrect.  This is flatly contrary to the parties’ ICA 

and federal law.  ICA, §§ 9.1.3, 9.1.4; 47 U.S.C. § 51.307(d).   

Staff and AT&T are incorrect under both the law and the Interconnection Agreement on 

three core principles:  (1) as a matter of contract and under the law, an EEL is not a single UNE – 

it is two or more UNEs which AT&T must provide separately or in combination when asked, see 

47 U.S.C. §51.307(d); ICA, §§ 9.1.3, 9.1.4; (2) as a consequence, Cbeyond is entitled to order, 

disconnect and/or replace one or more of the UNEs making-up an EEL, regardless of its 

combination or connection to other UNEs, and without having to re-purchase other UNE piece-

parts of the EEL, including the loop portion; and (3) there is specific language and pricing in the 

                                                 
 
1  Article 9 and the TRO/TRRO Amendment are attached collectively as Response Exhibit A. 
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parties’ Interconnection Agreement for disconnecting and replacing the transport UNE portion of 

an EEL.    As a consequence, AT&T’s policy, and Staff’s misplaced belief, that AT&T may tie a 

UNE loop with UNE transport is incorrect as a matter of law and contract; an EEL is a 

combination of UNEs, it is not a service.  

The “appropriate” way for Cbeyond to convert the transport UNE in an EEL is to order the 

existing UNE transport disconnected and the new UNE transport provisioned.  Cbeyond’s 

Interconnection Agreement with AT&T contains rates, terms and conditions for the disconnection 

of existing EEL-related transport and the ordering and installation of the new transport Cbeyond 

seeks.2  AT&T’s requirement that Cbeyond double-pay for UNE loop facilities which have already 

been provisioned is illegal under Illinois law, federal law and the contract between the parties.  It is 

readily apparent that AT&T’s practice to impose the provisioning charges to disconnect and 

reconnect a UNE Loop that is neither disconnected, nor reconnected, is merely a scheme to 

overcharge its competitors.  Cbeyond’s petition should, therefore, be granted. 

II. ARGUMENT AND CITATION TO AUTHORITY 

A.   An EEL Is Not A Singular UNE Under Law Or The Parties’ ICA. 

There should be no debate about the legal status of an EEL.  It is a combination of two or 

more UNEs, specifically, a UNE loop and UNE transport.  AT&T and Staff take the position that 

an EEL must be treated as a singular product. AT&T simply misstates the law – asserting that an 

EEL is a single UNE, like a tariffed service.  This false premise is fatal to their arguments.  Staff 

correctly states that an EEL is a pair of UNEs, but then incorrectly asserts that an EEL is a special 

                                                 
 
2  Amendment 1, Attachment A is attached hereto as Response Exhibit C, at lines 122, 132, 156. 
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product that essentially acts like a single UNE.3   Throughout their briefs, AT&T and Staff use the 

terms “EEL rearrangement”  “UNE combination” and “DS1/DS1 EEL” to signify a singular 

element which must be treated indivisibly.4  This treatment of UNEs is patently incorrect under 

law and contract. 

1. An EEL is two or more divisible UNEs under law.   

AT&T’s Initial Brief does not get past the first page before it makes the manifest 

misrepresentation of law that is at the heart of this dispute:  On page one of its Initial Brief, AT&T 

states that “One of the UNEs that AT&T Illinois provides pursuant to the ICA is the DS1 loop/DS1 

transport Enhanced Extended Link (‘EEL’), or DS1/DS1 EEL.”  That is a misstatement of the law 

and the ICA.  An EEL is not a UNE.  A UNE is a network element that AT&T must make 

available pursuant to 47 U.S.C. §251(c)(3).  The term “EEL” is industry shorthand for a specific 

common combination of UNEs (a UNE loop and UNE transport) – not a singular product.   

The FCC is clear on this legal point:   
 

We also reject the proposals by NuVox and ATX et al. to analyze interoffice 
transport separately when it is used as a component of an EEL combination.  These 
proposals would, in effect, deem EELs to be a separate network element, an idea the 
Commission rejected in the Triennial Review Order.  Instead, as we previously 
held, to the extent that the loop and transport elements that comprise a requested 
EEL circuit are available as unbundled elements, then the incumbent LEC must 
provide the requested EEL.5   
 

                                                 
 
3  Reply Brief of the Staff of the Illinois Commerce Commission, ICC Docket 10-0188, September 
18, 2010, p. 4, 6-8. Hereinafter referred to as “Staff Brief”.   
 
4   AT&T Illinois’ Opening Brief, ICC Docket 10-0188, August 13, 2010, p. 1.  Hereinafter referred to 
as “AT&T Opening Brief”. 
 
5  Triennial Review Remand Order (TRRO), 20 FCC Rcd. 2533, 2005 WL 289015 
(Feb. 4, 2005) ¶ 85 (footnotes omitted). 
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The FCC was equally clear that AT&T must combine or separate the UNEs that make an EEL 

upon request: 

Based on the nondiscrimination requirements of section 251(c)(3), and because 
incumbent LECs are in the best position to perform the functions necessary to 
provide UNE combinations (and to separate UNE combinations upon request) 
through their control of the elements of their networks that are unbundled, our rules 
require incumbent LECs to provide UNE combinations upon request.6   
 

Because the provisioning of the UNEs that make up an EEL can be accomplished more efficiently 

than provisioning the UNEs that make up the EEL alone, some states, including Illinois, 

specifically price the combination of the UNEs.  That pricing does not convert an EEL into a 

singular UNE or require the ILECs to bundle the UNEs. 

2.  Under law, the UNEs that make up an EEL must be made available separately. 

AT&T and Staff take the unsupported position is that AT&T may tie the UNEs in an EEL 

together, such that Cbeyond is obligated to order each UNE jointly disconnected before one of 

them – the transport portion of the EEL – may be replaced.  That position is directly counter to 

express FCC rules.  Specifically, 47 C.F.R. §51.307(d) requires that: 

An incumbent LEC shall provide a requesting telecommunications carrier access to 
the facility or functionality of a requested network element separate from access to 
the facility or functionality of other network elements, for a separate charge. 
 

The FCC’s rule at 51.307(d) arises from the FCC’s interpretation of the requirement at 47 U.S.C. 

§251(c)(3) that Incumbent LECs (like AT&T) provide “access” to network elements “on an 

unbundled basis.”  The FCC interpreted the 251(c)(3) terms to mean “that incumbent LECs must 

provide the facility or functionality of a particular element to requesting carriers, separate from the 

                                                 
 
6  Triennial Review Order (TRO), 18 FCC Rcd. 16978, 2003 WL 22175730 (Sept. 17, 2003) ¶ 573 
(emphasis added, footnotes omitted). 
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facility or functionality of other elements, for a separate fee.”7  AT&T must, therefore, offer all 

UNEs, including the UNEs combined in an EEL, separately and at separate rates.   There is no 

basis for AT&T and Staff’s position in the law or the ICA, and they do not proffer one.    

3. An EEL is two or more divisible UNEs under the Interconnection Agreement and 
the parties’ Interconnection Agreement expressly treats the UNEs within an EEL 
separately. 

 
UNE tying arrangements are also forbidden under the parties’ ICA. The federal rule’s 

prohibition at 47 C.F.R. §51.307(d) on tying one UNE to another is codified into the ICA in 

Article 9, sections 9.1.3 and 9.1.4:8 

. . . SBC ILLINOIS shall price each UNE separately, and shall offer each 
Unbundled Network Element individually, and in Combinations as defined in this 
Article 9. In no event shall SBC ILLINOIS require CLEC to purchase any 
Unbundled Network Element in conjunction with any other service or element. 
 
When CLEC replaces any existing service with Network Elements (including 
Combinations), SBC ILLINOIS shall not physically disconnect, separate, alter or 
change in any other fashion equipment and facilities employed to provide the 
services being replaced, except at the request of CLEC. . . . 
 

Accordingly, under law and by contract, AT&T is forbidden from tying access to one UNE to a 

requirement that another UNE be ordered, disconnected or reordered.   The ICA expressly forbids 

the very activity AT&T and Staff allege it allows.  In addition to the negative prohibition against 

what AT&T is doing, the ICA also affirmatively allows Cbeyond to do what Cbeyond is 

requesting to do – separately disconnect and order the UNEs within an EEL. 

The most recent amendment to the ICA governing EELs explicitly requires the separate 

offering of the separate UNEs that make up an EEL.  AT&T and Staff ignore the portion of the 

                                                 
 
7  First Report and Order, In the Matter of Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions in the 
Telecommunications Act of 1996, et al., Federal Communications Commission, CC Docket No. 96-98 
(August 8, 1996), ¶ 268. 
 
8  Attached as Response Exhibit A. 



 
 

 7

parties’ ICA that Cbeyond specifically identifies in Cbeyond’s Initial Brief as the basis for its case:  

Section 6.0 of the TRRO Amendment.9  Neither AT&T nor Staff refute Cbeyond’s assertions with 

respect to Section 6.   

The TRRO Amendment is the most recent ICA amendment, which by its terms supersedes 

all prior inconsistent provisions of the contract.10  Section 6.0 is specific regarding the provisioning 

of EELs – both the provision of a new EELs and an EEL that is being converted.   Section 6.0 is 

entitled “EELs.”  Section 6.1, with emphasis added, states in relevant part:  

SBC shall provide access to Section 251 UNEs and combinations of Section 251 
UNEs without regard to whether CLEC seeks access to the UNEs to establish a new 
circuit or to convert an existing circuit from a service to UNEs provided the rates, 
terms and conditions under which such Section 251 UNEs are to be provided 
are included within the CLEC’s underlying Agreement. 
 

Because EELs (the “combinations of Section 251 UNEs”) are not a standalone UNE, the terms 

“provided the rates, terms and conditions under which such Section 251 UNEs are to be provided 

are included within the CLEC’s underlying Agreement” refer to the separate UNEs that make up 

the EEL – not a standalone EEL. 

Importantly, these terms also apply irrespective of whether Cbeyond is ordering a new 

circuit or converting an existing circuit (a rearrangement).  Accordingly, the “rearrangement” of an 

EEL is simply changing a UNE within it.  Under the ICA, AT&T must make the UNEs within an 

EEL available “provided the rates, terms and conditions under which such Section 251 UNEs are 

                                                 
 
9  Cbeyond Opening Brief, ICC Docket 10-0188, August 13, 2010, p. 11-12.  Hereinafter referred to 
as “Cbeyond Brief”. 
 
10  Amendment of Interconnection Agreement Between Illinois Bell Telephone Company d/b/a SBC 
Illinois and Cbeyond Communications, LLC, ICC Docket 05-0442, December 19, 2005, ¶ 2 (“In the event 
of a conflict between the terms and provisions of this Amendment and the terms and provisions of the 
Agreement this Amendment shall govern . . .”).  See also AT&T Illinois’ Opening Brief at page 15 (“ . . .the 
TRO/TRRO Amendment trumps the original ICA.”). 
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to be provided are included within the CLEC’s underlying Agreement.”11  The UNE piece-parts of 

the EELs in this case are included in the parties’ contract.  The EEL Cbeyond seeks to convert is a 

combination of UNE DS1 loops and UNE DS1 transport.  The separate UNEs that make up the 

EELs in this case are included in the parties’ contract.  Those rates and terms are spelled out in 

section C below. 

B.  The Law Matters Because The ICA Codifies It and Sets The Parameters of 
Acceptable Interpretation of The ICA. 

 
Cbeyond’s presentation of the law is not academic:  The ICA codifies the legal obligations 

of the parties under the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (“Act”), Pub. L. No. 104-104, 110 Stat. 

56 (1996) (codified at scattered sections of 47 U.S.C.).  The Act also governs the interpretation of 

the ICA.  The Commission reviews the terms of all ICAs it arbitrates for compliance with section 

251 of the Act, including for non-discrimination requirements and public interest.12  It cannot be 

disputed that the requirements of the Act are incorporated into the parties’ ICA.  The preface to the 

ICA reads: 

The Parties are entering into this Agreement to set forth the respective obligations 
of the parties and the terms and conditions under which the Parties will 
Interconnect their networks and facilities and provide to each other 
Telecommunications Services as required by the Act as set forth herein. 

 
Similarly, the TRO/TRRO Amendment is prefaced with, “the Parties wish to amend the 

Agreement in order to give contractual effect to the effective portions of the TRO, TRO 

                                                 
 
11  TRO/TRRO Amendment, Response Exhibit A, at section 6.1. 
 
12    47 U.S.C. §252. 
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Reconsideration Orders, and TRO Remand as set forth herein.”  All relevant portions of the 

TRO/TRRO Amendment were not negotiated.13 

 AT&T ignores this fact and summarily states that the Act – and indeed all state and federal 

rules and law – are ‘preempted’ by the terms of the parties’ ICA.14  AT&T’s argument is a gross 

misstatement of the law and fails to consider the ICA’s express and explicit incorporation of the 

Act’s requirements into the parties’ ICA.  Indeed, even Staff acknowledges that “AT&T’s 

argument reaches too far.”  Regardless, both Staff and AT&T fail to acknowledge the ICA’s 

incorporation of the requirements TRO, TRO Reconsideration Orders, and TRO Remand into the 

ICA.15 

 The Commission’s prior approval of the ICA does not render state and federal law null and 

void.  AT&T cites to case law concerning general federal duties imposed on AT&T and other 

ILECs to provide services that are not incorporated into an interconnection agreement.16  Here, 

however, the ICA expressly incorporates the requirements TRO, TRO Reconsideration Orders, and 

TRO Remand into the ICA.  Moreover, with respect to state law, AT&T ignores its own case law 

providing that “The Commission can enforce state law regulations, even where regulations differ 

from the terms of the Act or an interconnection agreement, as long as the regulations do not 

                                                 
 
13  The terms of the TRO/TRRO Amendment were arbitrated in ICC Docket 05-0442.  In that case, the 
DS1 transport, DS1 loop, third party commingling and EEL-specific language at issue in this case were all 
proposed by AT&T and were not disputed in the arbitration.   
 
14  AT&T Opening Brief at pp. 5-9. 
 
15  Staff Brief at p. 8. 
 
16  Staff acknowledges and agrees with this point.  (See Staff Brief at p. 10) (Bie holds that tariff 
provisions that are inconsistent with the 1996 Act to the extent that they require an ILEC to offer an 
alternative means of obtaining interconnection rights without an interconnection agreement and essentially 
create a ‘parallel proceeding’ that bypasses the federal scheme”) (citing Wisconsin Bell, Inc. v. Bie, 340 
F.3d 441 (7th Cir. 2003)). 
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interfere with the ability of new entrants to obtain service.”  Michigan Bell Telephone Co. v. 

MCIMetro Access Transmission Services, Inc., 323 F.3d 348, 359 (6th Cir. 2003); see also Abbott 

Labs, Inc. v. Illinois Commerce Comm’n, 289 Ill. App. 3d 705, 711 (1st Dist. 1997) (“The 

Commission possesses plenary power under the Act with respect to the supervision of public 

utilities, including the power to establish reasonable rates and charges for service”).  And, even 

Staff acknowledges that “the Commission is not precluded from finding that state law may 

imposes additional obligations if the parties’ ICA does not address such circumstances.”17 

Therefore, AT&T’s argument that federal and state law is ‘preempted’ by the terms of the ICA 

should be rejected by the Commission. 

To the extent that the Commission is required to interpret ambiguities in the ICA, it must 

do so in conformity with the federal and state law.  Here, the Commission is presented with two 

opposing contract interpretations of what an “appropriate service request” means and, what the 

TRRO Amendment means. The Commission cannot interpret the ICA in such a way as to render it 

illegal under state or federal law.  The Commission must use an interpretation of the ICA that 

maintains the ICA as legal.  Here, AT&T and Staff propose a contract interpretation that results in 

illegally tied UNEs, as well as rates for access to a UNE that exceed TELRIC in violation of 47 

C.F.R. §51.507(e).  Cbeyond’s interpretation does not.  “[A]mbiguously worded contracts should 

not be interpreted to render them illegal and unenforceable where the wording lends itself to a 

logically acceptable construction that renders them legal and enforceable.  Walsh v. E.A. Schlecht, 

429 U.S. 401, 408, 97 S.Ct. 679, 685 (1977).  Because the interpretation offered by AT&T and 

Staff creates an illegal UNE tying arrangement and violates TELRIC, the law compels the 

interpretation proposed by Cbeyond. 

                                                 
 
17   Staff Brief at p.10 (emphasis in original). 
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C. The Interconnection Agreement Contains Rates, Terms And Conditions For 
Changing The Transport Portion Of An EEL. 

 
Neither Staff nor AT&T address any of the law surrounding the impropriety of AT&T’s 

conduct here.  Instead, they rely on incorrect assertions regarding the ICA:  First, they incorrectly 

state that there is no provision of the ICA to disconnect the transport portion of an existing EEL 

without also disconnecting the loop.  Staff reaches this incorrect conclusion by simple error – it 

erroneously assumes that there is no rate to disconnect the transport portion of an EEL.18  Once 

Staff makes that error, it concludes that the only method available under the ICA to “rearrange” an 

EEL is a “two-step process” – a process that is not mentioned in the ICA (nor does staff cite to 

such a process in its twelve (12) pages of briefing on the issue).  AT&T asserts that “the process 

required” by Section 9.3.3.4 – that is, requiring “appropriate service requests” – is the illegal two-

step process AT&T defends here.19  Like Staff, AT&T makes that assertion without identifying 

any language in the ICA or the law requiring the a CLEC to re-order an existing loop to change the 

UNE transport portion of an EEL.   

1. Contrary to Staff’s assertion, the ICA contains specific terms and conditions to 
replace the transport portion of a DS1/DS1 EEL. 

 
Staff states that there are no ordering or disconnection charges for the individual UNE loop 

or UNE transport portion of EELs, and therefore, Cbeyond is complaining about “non-existent 

                                                 
 
18   Staff Brief at p. 6, 57-59. 
 
19   AT&T Opening Brief at p. 16. 
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rates.”20  That is manifestly false.  Cbeyond provided specific citation to those rates in discovery,21 

Mr. Darnell’s Affidavit22 and Cbeyond’s Initial Brief.23   

Staff states that “there are no loop or transport nonrecurring rates for DS1/DS1 EELs under 

the ICA . . . [i]n particular the service ordering and provisioning disconnection charges associated 

with the disconnection of a DS1/DS1 EEL apply to the DS1/DS1 EEL as a whole.”24  Staff then 

concludes that Cbeyond’s case involves “essentially disputes regarding charges that are not to be 

found in the ICA, and thus should be removed from the list of disputed rates.”25  Staff then builds 

on that incorrect fact to assert that because the ICA, “does not contain explicit rates, terms and 

conditions governing EEL rearrangement” that the “two step process” suggested by AT&T is the 

only way to “rearrange” and EEL.26  All of those statements and conclusions are wrong. 

2. There are specific service ordering charges for the transport portion of a DS1 
EEL. 

 
In addition to the fact that there is not a single word in the contract (nor do Staff or AT&T 

identify any) regarding the “two-step” process for “rearranging an EEL”, there are specific rates to 

accomplish the disconnection of the DS1 UNE transport portion of an EEL, which AT&T and 

Staff also ignore.  There are three Service Ordering Charges contained in the ICA for separately 

                                                 
 
20   Staff Brief at p. 6.   
 
21   Cbeyond Response to Staff Data Request QL-2.01(A)(2), attached hereto as Response Exhibit B. 
 
22   Darnell Affidavit at ¶37, fn 55. 
 
23   Cbeyond Brief at p. 5, fn 35. 
 
24  Staff Brief at p. 6.  Staff makes the same argument at 57-59. 
 
25  Id. 
 
26  Id. 
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ordering the disconnection of the transport portion, the loop portion and the whole DS1 EEL.  

Amendment 1, Attachment A27 contains:  

 at line 156 – the service order charge for disconnection of a whole DS1 EEL (part 

of the NRCs specific to service ordering charges for the whole DS1 EEL at lines 

153-159);   

 at line 132, there is a Service Order Charge for disconnecting the transport portion 

of a DS1 EEL (also part of the NRCs specific to service ordering charges for the 

transport portion of a DS1 EEL at lines 129-135); and   

 at line 122,  there is a Service Order Charge for are disconnecting the loop portion 

of a DS1 EEL (also part of the NRCs specific to service ordering charges for the 

loop portion of a DS1 EEL at lines 119-127). 

Staff’s error to recognize these rates - and to argue specifically that these rates do not exist - is 

confounding given that Cbeyond specifically identified these rates in response to discovery 

requests propounded by Staff.28 

These individual rates were supported by separate evidence in the UNE rate docket:  The 

$8.63 at line 132 is supported by Excel Workbook, SO EEL_N_Whsl_IL_03-

06_Oct02_Compliance_Aggr.xls, worksheet, tab 6.7.  The rate at line 156 is supported by Excel 

Workbook, SO EEL_N_Whsl_IL_03-06_Oct02_Compliance_Aggr.xls, worksheet, tab 6.5, as 

                                                 
 
27  Amendment 1, Attachment A is attached hereto as Response Exhibit C. 
 
28   Cbeyond Response to Staff Data Request QL-2.01(A)(2), attached hereto as Response Exhibit B.  It 
is doubly perplexing that Staff also states in its Brief that the Cbeyond discovery response does not contain 
the very rates it does contain.  Staff Brief at pp. 6 and 11.  Cbeyond can only speculate that Staff was 
confused by the fact that the ordering charges are all the same amount - $8.63 (as it is for most other EEL-
related electronic ordering charges – see lines 102, 112 and 140). 
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footnoted in cell B42.29  These are separate rates for separate activities and one of them, line 132, 

is specific to ordering the disconnection of DS1 transport portion of an EEL. 

SBC Illinois witnesses also testified that these are non-recurring rates specific to the 

transport portion of an EEL.  Among several examples, SBC Illinois witness, Chris F. Cass 

testified as follows: 

Q45:  WHAT RATE ELEMENT COSTS DO YOU DEVELOP IN THE EEL 
NONRECURRING COST STUDY? 

 
A45: . . . *  DS1 Dedicated Transport Collocated (Separate costs for Initial and 

Additional) 
*   DS3 Interoffice Dedicated Transport Collocated (Separate costs for 
Initial and Additional) . . .  
 

Q46:  DO EACH OF THE RATE ELEMENTS LISTED ABOVE REPRESENT 
AN EEL COMBINATION? 

 
A45:  No.  Each of the rate elements listed above are building blocks that can be 

used to construct an EEL.  In his direct testimony, Mr. Silver provides 
examples of how the rate elements apply in a number of different EEL 
scenarios. 

* * * 
Q49.  WHAT DO THE DEDICATED TRANSPORT RATE ELEMENTS 

REPRESENT? 
 
A49.   The dedicated transport rate elements represent the cost of the activities 

necessary to provision the interoffice transport portion of an EEL. . . .30 
 

SBC Illinois witness Kent Currie also testified that AT&T service order rates were developed to 

reflect “activities required for installing and disconnecting new EELs as well as adding or 

changing existing EELs.”31 

                                                 
 
29  The specific tabs with the worksheets supporting the separate rates for ordering and provisioning 
DS1 UNE loops, DS1 Transport and whole DS1/DS1 EELs are attached hereto as Response Exhibit D. 
 
30  Direct Testimony of Chris F. Cass on behalf of SBC Illinois, ICC Docket No. 02-0864, December 
23, 2002, pages 25-26 (Emphasis added).  Mr. Cass’ Direct Testimony is attached hereto as Response 
Exhibit E. 
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After AT&T put on its case, the Commission ordered AT&T to split its proposed 

connection ordering charge into separate connection and disconnection charges.32  Those 

disconnection  charges for the transport portion (line 132), the loop portion (lines 122) and the 

whole EEL (lines 156) are, accordingly, found in the ICA at Amendment 1, Attachment A. 

3. There are also transport-specific disconnection and connection provisioning 
charges in the ICA. 

 
On top of the Service Order Charges, there are also separate and distinct rates for 

provisioning (connection and disconnection) of the DS1 loop and DS1 transport portions of an 

EEL and the whole DS1/DS1 EEL.  Specifically, the provisioning costs for the DS1 UNE transport 

portion of an EEL are located at Amendment 1, Attachment A at lines 192-197 (initial connection 

is provided at line 193 and is $95.69).  The provisioning costs for the DS1 UNE loop portion of an 

EEL are located at Amendment 1, Attachment A at lines 180-185 (initial connection is provided at 

line 181 and is $248.22), and the provisioning costs for the whole DS1/DS1 EEL are located at 

Amendment 1, Attachment A at lines 205-210 (initial connection is provided at line 206 and is 

$280.64). Like the ordering charges, these rates are all supported by separate and distinct work 

papers.33  The work papers demonstrate that connecting and disconnecting the transport portion of 

an EEL involved different activities and a different rate than the activities for disconnecting the 

whole EEL (or the loop portion).  It is, therefore, inescapable that there are different and distinct 

                                                                                                                                                                
 
  
31  Direct Testimony of Dr. Kent A. Currie on behalf of SBC Illinois, ICC Docket No. 02-0864, 
December 23, 2002,  page 43. (Emphasis added). Dr. Currie’s Direct Testimony is attached hereto as 
Response Exhibit F. 
 
32  Order, Illinois Bell Telephone Company Filing to Increase Loop and Nonrecurring Rates, ICC 
docket 02-0864, June 9, 2004, p. 198. 
 
33   The work papers supporting these separate rates are attached as Response Exhibit B. 
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rates in Amendment 1, Attachment A for disconnecting and provisioning the transport portion of a 

DS1/DS1 EEL.  

 In reaction to a request by AT&T (a CLEC at the time) to use the lower Unbundled 

Dedicated Transport (“UDT”) rates developed in Docket 02-0864 which were specific to EELs, 

SBC Illinois witness Michael D. Silver explained, “when UDT is used as a component of an EEL 

in combination with an unbundled loop, some of the nonrecurring costs incurred when 

provisioning UDT on a stand-alone basis will not apply.  It is that recognition that led SBC Illinois 

to determine a separate cost for UDT when it is used as a component of the EEL.” 34 

It should not be a fact in dispute that the Commission approved and the parties included 

separate and distinct rates for ordering and provisioning the DS1 transport portion, the DS1 loop 

portion and the whole DS1/DS1 EEL in the ICA.  Staff’s assertion that “there are no rate elements 

such as DS1 transport service ordering disconnection nonrecurring charge or DS1 transport 

provisioning disconnection nonrecurring charge with respect to DS1/DS1 EELs under the ICA”35 

is manifestly wrong.  Because Staff used that belief as the basis for its agreement that AT&T’s 

illegal “two step” process was the only available means to accomplish changing the transport 

portion of an EEL, the Commission should reject Staff’s assertion.  

                                                 
 
34  Rebuttal Testimony of Michael D. Silver on behalf of SBC Illinois, ICC Docket No. 02-0864, 
January 20,2004, page 7 (emphasis added).  (Mr. Silver makes a similar argument for the rate elements for 
the loop portion of an EEL at page 9).  Mr. Silver’s Rebuttal Testimony is attached hereto as Response 
Exhibit G. 
 
35  Staff Brief at p. 58.  
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4. The use of disconnect ordering charges and disconnect provisioning charges is 
appropriate.  
 

In Docket 02-0864, AT&T witness Cass identified the various rates for the EEL piece-parts 

as “building blocks that can be used to construct an EEL.”36  Because those rates were also specific 

to the disconnection of those piece-parts, they can equally be used to demonstrate that AT&T can  

deconstruct an EEL.  The parties included all of the “building block” rates in their ICA.37  For 

instance, AT&T uses these “building blocks” to build the various types of EELs Cbeyond orders.38  

AT&T also uses those “building block” rates to bill for disconnecting an EEL (or its parts).  All of 

the rates in this case can be found among these “building blocks” rates.39   

For instance, AT&T charges Cbeyond a loop-portion-of-and-EEL-specific-rate for 

disconnecting a DS1 loop portion of a DS1/DS3 EEL (Attachment A, line 182) (not a whole 

DS1/DS3 EEL disconnection charge – which is a number of “building block” charges).40  If 

Cbeyond orders a DS1/DS3 EEL, AT&T uses the “building blocks” of a number of Attachment A 

EEL piece-part rates as “building blocks” to charge Cbeyond to create the DS1/DS3 EEL.41  

Section 6.1 of the TRO/TRRO Amendment to the ICA makes it clear that Cbeyond may convert 

existing EELs “provided the rates (described herein) and terms for the UNEs are in the ICA.”  

AT&T witness Michael Silver attached exhibit MDS-12 to his testimony demonstrating twenty 

                                                 
 
36  Cass Direct, attached as Response Exhibit E, page 26. 
 
37  Amendment 1, Attachment A, attached as Response Exhibit C. 
 
38   Darnell Affidavit at ¶¶26-28, 37-38, 45. 
 
39  Id. 
 
40  Darnell Affidavit at ¶ 52.  
 
41  Darnell Affidavit at ¶26. 
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different EELs that could be built with the “building blocks” of the various EEL-related rates.42  

Many of those scenarios use separate loop and transport ordering and provisioning charges.  While 

Mr. Silver’s exhibit does not expressly show the use of those rate “building blocks” to disconnect 

any EELs, including the DS1/DS1 EEL,  his exhibit demonstrates that it was the intention of those 

“building block” rates to be able to do so.  Indeed, disconnection rates in the ICA were created in 

02-0864 at the same time as the other “building block” rates.   

The contract provisions Cbeyond identified herein require AT&T to convert EELs using 

the “building blocks” Mr. Cass identified and Mr. Silver used.  TRO/TRRO Amendment Section 

6.1 states that AT&T must allow Cbeyond to order and convert EELs by their piece-part UNEs – 

the very “building blocks” for which the Commission developed rates.  Those “building block” 

rates are in the parties’ ICA, and the Commission is required to apply them.  Neither AT&T nor 

Staff identify any legal or contractual basis to do otherwise.  

To summarize:  Cbeyond wishes to disconnect the DS1 transport portion of an existing 

DS1/DS1 EEL.  Under the ICA, TRRO Amendment, section 6.1 Cbeyond may convert an existing 

EEL “provided the rates, terms and conditions under which such Section 251 UNEs are to be 

provided are included within the CLEC’s underlying agreement.”  DS1 transport (the Section 251 

UNE) terms are in the ICA (TRRO Amendment 3.1.4 and Schedule 9.2.7).  The rates to disconnect 

the transport portion of a DS1/DS1 EEL are also in the ICA (Amendment 1, Attachment A, 

provides the Service Order Charge (line 132) and the provisioning of the disconnection (line 194) 

for the DS1 transport portion of a DS1/DS1 EEL).  

Once the disconnection of the DS1 transport portion of a DS1/DS1 EEL is accomplished, 

Cbeyond wants one of two scenarios:   

                                                 
 
42  Silver Exhibit MDS-12 is attached to Mr. Silver’s testimony at Response Exhibit G. 
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(1) To order AT&T UNE DS3 transport connected:  the DS3 transport UNE terms 

and conditions are in the ICA (TRRO Amendment 3.1.5 and Schedule 9.2.07) 

and the rates for ordering and provisioning the DS3 transport portion of an EEL 

are also in the ICA (Amendment 1, Attachment A, Service Order Charge to 

order DS3 transport portion of an EEL (line 139) and to provision it (line 218).  

To the extent Cbeyond wants multiplexing on a DS3, which it would here, that 

multiplexing is included in the DS3 rate. 

(2) To order connection to an alternative collocation:  the terms and conditions for 

that connection are included in the ICA (TRRO Amendment, section 5.2 – 5.3 

provide that AT&T will cross-connect UNE loops to a third party’s Section 

261(c)(6) collocation via cross-connection).  The rates for cross-connects are 

also in the ICA Pricing Schedule, page 7. 

As demonstrated above, there are specific rates, terms and conditions addressing the conversion of 

the DS1/DS1 EEL Cbeyond seeks.  AT&T and Staff’s representation that there are no such rates, 

terms and conditions within the ICA is incorrect.  Because AT&T is unreasonably tying UNEs in 

contravention of the ICA and federal law, it is violating Illinois law.  For the reasons set-forth 

herein and in Cbeyond’s initial brief, Cbeyond’s petition should be granted. 

D. Staff And AT&T Ignore Important Facts, and AT&T Requests Unavailable 
Relief. 

  
There are a myriad of errors, misquotations and incorrect statements in AT&T and Staff’s 

Briefs, several of which are worth addressing specifically.  Each of these five mistakes are 

addressed in more detail following these summaries.   
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First, neither Staff nor AT&T address the issue that aside from the fact that the loop is not 

actually disconnected, the order specifically states that the loop is not to be disconnected.43    As 

Mr. Darnell previously explained, if the loop were disconnected, then the activities to “re-

provision” a new loop include numerous activities that AT&T does not perform.44  Under 

Cbeyond’s theory of the case and federal law AT&T’s charges must be TELRIC compliant.  If the 

totality of provisioning activities performed by AT&T are changing the cross-connect at one end 

of the loop (and no party appears to assert they do more), then AT&T may not charge a loop 

provisioning NRC for that activity under TELRIC.   

Second, Staff and AT&T fail to address the Commission’s prior UNE ratemaking decisions 

that must guide the application of nonrecurring charges in the ICA.  As Cbeyond pointed out in its 

opening brief for the purpose of determining what charges in the ICA apply, it does not matter 

what work AT&T actually does; what matters for the purpose of determining what charges in the 

ICA apply is what work is assumed to be done by a least-cost most efficient carrier (in Docket 02-

0864).  And further, the assumption that underlies the rates in the ICA and must guide the 

application of rates in the ICA is that unbundled loops and unbundled transport both have a 

termination point on an Intermediate Distribution Frame (“IDF”) and, therefore, either can be 

changed without affecting the other.  

Third, Staff completely misinterpreted the Clear Channel Capability (CCC) charge.  Staff 

responded to Cbeyond’s interpretation of unambiguous language “at the same time DS1 service is 

provisioned” with a nonsensical interpretation.  Cbeyond correctly interpreted “at the same time 

DS1 service is provisioned”  to mean “at the same time DS1 service is provisioned.”  Staff 

                                                 
 
43   Darnell Affidavit at ¶ 25, fn 12. 
 
44  Id. at ¶ 61-62. 
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interpreted “at the same time DS1 service is provisioned” to mean “at the time DS1 service was 

enabled on the circuit.”  Prior to Cbeyond ordering the transport circuit between its collocation in a 

distant end office and the main distribution frame (or its equivalent) in the serving wire center, NO 

circuit between these two points existed.  It is axiomatic that if NO circuit existed, DS1 service on 

a circuit also did not exist.  An unprovisioned wire is neither “DS1 service” nor capable of being 

channelized or unchannelized.  Nevertheless, AT&T’s own witness testimony from Docket 02-

0864 makes it abundantly clear that Cbeyond is correct.   

Forth, Staff’s concentration on the trees of Cbeyond’s billing evidence misses the forest of 

the complaint.  Cbeyond has the money at issue in this case – it has disputed AT&T’s bills, but not 

paid them.  The complaint is over the entire class of loop charges – that AT&T should not bill 

UNE loop charges when it is not providing a new loop – not the specifics of the bill.  It is that 

illegal behavior that is the basis for the accusation that AT&T’s behavior violates Illinois law.   

Finally, AT&T requests relief that it may not request nor be granted.  In the conclusion to 

AT&T’s Opening Brief – for the first time in the case – AT&T requests that the “Commission 

enter judgment in its favor on each count of Cbeyond’s complaint and direct Cbeyond to pay all 

disputed charges within 30 days of the Commission’s order.”  A grant, denial or partial grant of 

Cbeyond’s Petition is all that is available as an outcome in this matter.  AT&T has not counter-

claimed for any relief and is not entitled to request it.  Due process requires that AT&T 

affirmatively request such relief, bear the burden of positively demonstrating that it is entitled to it, 

and endure the adversarial examination of its case by Cbeyond.  Having failed to make such a 

timely request, AT&T cannot now surreptitiously insert unavailable relief into the case.    

1. AT&T and Staff Ignore the Undisputed Fact that the Loop is Not 
Disconnected. 
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Neither Staff nor AT&T address the fact that AT&T requires that Cbeyond include a note 

in the actual order to not disconnect the loop in its EEL Rearrangement orders.45  That fact 

contravenes Staff’s belief that the loop is disconnected, which Staff uses to support the “two-step” 

process imposition of loop NRCs.  It also demonstrates that AT&T is being unjustly enriched for 

the rearrangement its performs – which violates the ICA, federal and state law.   

As was outlined in Cbeyond’s Opening Brief, all of the orders Cbeyond placed expressly 

state that the loop should not be disconnected.46  Staff erroneously equates what actually happens 

(the temporary hot cut to new transport via a changed cross-connect) to something that does not 

happen (an actual disconnection).  Staff asserts that because the loop is disconnected, that a full 

loop NRC reconnection charge is appropriate.47  That is an error of terminology.  Disconnection, in 

the context of ordering, billing and ICC Docket 02-0864 has a very specific meaning.  It means 

completely and permanently removing the UNE from service.  Further, among other consequences, 

it means the circuit ID changes.  Here, no party disputes (nor could they) that the loop circuit ID 

does not change.48  It does not change because the loop is not actually disconnected.   

                                                 
 
45   Darnell Affidavit at ¶ 25, see also Id., fn 12. (for a copy of an order, see Exhibit GJD-4 – “DO NOT 
DISC - COORDINATED HOTCUT”). 
 
46   Cbeyond opening Brief at p. 3.  See also Darnell Affidavit at ¶ 25. 
 
47  Staff Brief at p. 11. In addition to misunderstanding the term “disconnection” in this context, Staff 
also misinterprets the Stipulation.  The Stipulation outlines the actual physical activities at issue (which is 
what the parties were asked to provide).  However, the appropriate charges in this case are derived from 
ICC Docket 02-0864.  Those rates were developed using TELRIC methodologies – a methodology that 
assumes a least-cost efficient network.  In the network assumed in 02-0864, both loops and transport 
terminate at the same intermediate frame.  The actual network activities performed by AT&T are irrelevant. 
 
48  Exhibit GJD-3 (before and after the groom, the circuit ID does not change). 
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These EEL rearrangements are performed on working loops to live customers.49  The 

parties manage them so that the change to the transport portion of the EEL does not impact the 

customers’ businesses.  Specifically, the change is accomplished with a “hot cut” involving a 

cross-connect change that causes an out of service time of only a few minutes.50  The loop is 

neither “disconnected” nor “provisioned” in that process under either the terms of the ICA or as 

those terms are used in ICC Docket 02-0864.  That is why the loop circuit ID does not change, and 

the AT&T ordering forms instruct the personnel to not disconnect the loop.  Because AT&T only 

(at most) assigns a new cross-connect at the end of the loop, it is inappropriate under 47 C.F.R. 

§51.507(e) to impose a loop NRC on Cbeyond as if Cbeyond ordered (and received) a new loop.51  

In fact, the basis for the EEL rates ordered in Docket 02-0864 assume the loop is not impacted by a 

change in the transport portion of an EEL, so from a rate perspective, no cross-connection loop 

related charges should apply.  That fact is explained below. 

2. Under the terms of the ICA, Unbundled Loops and Unbundled Transport on 
EELs are assumed to each have a termination point on an Intermediate 
Distribution Frame. 
 

Neither Staff nor AT&T address the fact that, for the purpose of determining what charges 

in the ICA apply to the conversion of UNEs provided as part of an EEL, it does not matter what 

AT&T actually must do to perform the conversion.  Staff and AT&T both argue that a cross-

connection on the loop must be disconnected and re-connected when the transport portion of a 

                                                 
 
49   Darnell Affidavit, ¶ 25, fn. 12. 
 
50   Id.  Indeed, the orders actually say there is a coordinated hot cut:  Exhibit GJD-4 – “DO NOT DISC 
- COORDINATED HOTCUT”). 
 
51  Darnell Affidavit at ¶¶ 35-37. 
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EEL is converted, and therefore it is appropriate for AT&T to charge Cbeyond to disconnect and 

re-connect the Loop.52  That argument is not relevant to the application of rates under the ICA.   

In Docket 02-0864, the CLECs who were parties to that docket asked the Commission to 

eliminate an assumption in AT&T’s EEL cost studies that all cross-connect activities would be 

done on an Intermediate Distribution Frame (“IDF”).  Eliminating IDFs from the case would 

reduce the nonrecurring rates being proposed by AT&T.53  CLECs in that rate case argued that 

IDFs are not “forward-looking” technology.  As a consequence, the CLECs asserted that the 

additional cost generated by assuming such IDFs exist should be excluded from the nonrecurring 

rates.   

The Commission rejected this CLEC argument and found “SBC’s argument that IDFs help 

to mitigate premature exhaust of the Main Distribution Frame (“MDF”) to be persuasive” and 

permitted the UNE nonrecurring rates to be higher because they are calculated with that 

assumption that IDF exists between UNE loops and UNE transport.54  As a result, all loop and 

transport nonrecurring charges in the ICA for UNEs provided as part of an EEL contain additional 

costs to for an assumed connection to an IDF.    

The history of Docket 02-0864 is relevant to this case because the rates Cbeyond is charged 

assume that unbundled loops and unbundled transport in an EEL are physically separated by an 

IDF.  Each, therefore, can be changed without impacting the other.  They both can cross-connect 

within the IDF to whatever services are also attached to the IDF, including “other 

                                                 
 
52  Staff Brief at page 47-48,   AT&T Opening Brief, p. 25. 
 
53  Order, Illinois Bell Telephone Company Filing to Increase Loop and Nonrecurring Rates, ICC 
docket 02-0864, June 9, 2004, p. 178, see also id. at pp. 174-178.  Relevant portions of this Order are 
attached as Response Exhibit H. 
 
54  Id. 
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telecommunications providers (CLECs), transport equipment” etc.55  From the perspective of the 

rates, each UNE in an EEL is independent of the other.  Staff and AT&T’s reliance on the 

stipulation as a basis for rates which AT&T charges is improper and should be rejected.  What 

rates apply to which activities must be judged by the rate support from Docket 02-0864 – not 

representations about what AT&T does today.  Staff and AT&T are engaged in the very activity 

AT&T criticizes in its Opening Brief as “an impermissible collateral attack on the rates established 

in the 02-0864 Order . . . .”56 

3.   Cbeyond Correctly Characterized the Basis for  a Clear Channel Charge. 

Staff’s criticism of Cbeyond’s position regarding AT&T’s imposition of Clear Channel 

Capability charges is incorrect.  As explained below, Cbeyond relied on a quotation from a Cost 

Study Overview from ICC Docket 02-0864 to argue that AT&T’s Clear Channel Capability charge 

does not apply when CCC is ordered “at the same time DS1 service is provisioned.”57  Mr. Darnell 

further explained that because Cbeyond always request CCC at the time it orders DS1 service, the 

CCC charges should never apply.58  Staff accuses Cbeyond of misinterpreting the phrase “at the 

time that a DS1 service is provisioned” to mean the time when a DS1 service is provided to 

Cbeyond (which is that phrase’s normal meaning).59  Instead, Staff asserts - without any citation or 

explanation - that “at the time that a DS1 service is provisioned” actually means “when DS1 

                                                 
 
55  Reply Brief on Exceptions of SBC Illinois, Public Version, Illinois Bell Telephone Company Filing 
to Increase Loop and Nonrecurring Rates, ICC Docket No. 02-0864, May 24, 2004, pages 83-84.  Relevant 
portions of this Reply Brief are attached as Response Exhibit I. 
 
56  AT&T’s Opening Brief at p. 22. 
 
57  Darnell Affidavit at ¶ 64. 
 
58  Id. 
 
59  Staff Brief at p. 38-39. 
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service is first enabled or established on the circuits, not the time when the DS1 circuits are first 

provided to Cbeyond.”60  That interpretation is wrong. 

In addition to standard telecommunications practice (carriers cannot “enable” a coding 

format on a non-existent circuit), the evidence from AT&T’s own witness’ testimony, which was 

the basis for the Cost Study Overview quoted by Cbeyond, confirms that the phrase “at the time 

that a DS1 service is provisioned” means what it says – at the time AT&T provisions the DS1 

service to Cbeyond.  In SBC Illinois witness Chris Cass’ direct testimony, Mr. Cass explains what 

the CCC rate represents: 

Q. 50:   WHAT DOES THE CLEAR CHANNEL CAPABILITY RATE ELEMENT 
REPRESENT? 

 
A.50: The interoffice clear channel capability (“CCC”) feature provides the CLEC 

an increased useable bandwidth from 1.344 mbps to 1.536 mbps of an 
unconstrained data stream across the network.  The CCC is provided on 
1.544 mbps interoffice elements.  Provisioning of CCC in the network 
requires the signal at the channel interface to conform to a bipolar, eight 
zero substitution (B8ZS”) line code format.  If CCC is provisioned at the 
time a DS1 service is provisioned coding can be done within the normal 
provisioning activities  that occur in the DS1, therefore, there is no 
additional CCC non-recurring charge.  If, however, CCC is provisioned on 
an existing DS1 service, a non-recurring charge does apply because 
additional activities are required to provision CCC onto the existing DS1 
line.  The CCC work activities are the same as the HPC and SSC activities 
used to provision the interoffice transport portions of the EEL, as the CCC is 
essentially a partial re-provisioning of the interoffice circuit using a different 
option.  These activities, associated work groups and time estimates, and 
costs for each activity are on Tab 6.2 of the cost study.61 

 

                                                 
 
60   Id. 
 
61   Cass Direct Testimony, page 28.  Relevant portions of Cass Direct Testimony from ICC Docket 02-
0864 are attached hereto as Response Exhibit E. 
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 Mr. Cass’ testimony means that the DS1 circuit can have one of two formats:  the B8ZS 

format he discusses or AMI.  B8ZS is clear channel (unchannelized) and AMI is channelized.62  If 

set-up during provisioning, according to the AT&T’s witness, each format takes exactly the same 

time to enable.  That is why CCC does not apply when it is ordered at the same time as the DS1 

service – one of the two coding formats needs to be put in place.  However, when CCC is ordered 

on an existing AMI transport circuit, a “partial re-provisioning of the interoffice circuit”63 is 

necessary, and accordingly, the lower, partial CCC provisioning charge applies instead of higher, 

full transport provisioning charge.  Cbeyond and AT&T64 are in agreement that Cbeyond always 

orders CCC at the time it first orders a DS1 circuit.  Therefore, no CCC charges should ever be 

assessed against Cbeyond. 

4.  The Claims in This Case Are About Illegal UNE Tying, Not Bill Specifics. 

Staff spends a good deal of its Reply Brief parsing through billing records and complaining 

about their incompleteness.65 Those criticisms are misplaced.  AT&T is accused of violating 

Illinois law because it is inappropriately billing full loop NRCs in a situation where Cbeyond is not 

asking for, and not receiving, a new loop.  The totality of relief requested by Cbeyond with regard 

to the bill is an order that AT&T “credit Cbeyond all inappropriate charges” – not a request for a 

specific amount.  The point of the evidence presented is to prove the fact that AT&T is billing loop 

NRCs inappropriately and what specific individual charges are encompassed in those inappropriate 

loop charges.  As a consequence, the records provided are not all that are available nor show all the 

                                                 
 
62   See Newton’s Telecom Dictionary at the definition of “AMI” which describes both AMI and B8ZS. 
 
63  Cass Direct Testimony, p. 28. 
 
64  QL 3.01 “AT&T Illinois affirmatively states, however, that Cbeyond has ordered CCC as part of 
every DS1/DS1 EEL circuit it ordered dating back to January 2006.”  AT&T Response to QL 3.01 is 
attached hereto as Response Exhibit J. 
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charges Cbeyond did pay – not the totality of incorrect billing.  That is why some apparent large 

over-credits appear to exist in the evidence presented (the credits are shown, but not all that the 

amounts the Cbeyond paid are shown).  Neither Staff nor AT&T appear to dispute that there are 

loop NRCs being charged to convert the transport portion of a previously installed EEL, however, 

so Cbeyond will not address all of Staff’s criticisms concerning the bill dispute data here. 

5.   AT&T is not Entitled to the Relief it Requests.  

AT&T has improperly requested that the Commission order Cbeyond to pay the 

outstanding balances on the accounts at issue in the case.  The Commission should deny AT&T 's 

request as improper.  AT&T decided not to file any counterclaims in this action, and instead 

decided solely to rely on its answer.  Now, AT&T seeks relief for claims about which Cbeyond has 

no notice or an opportunity to defend.  This request for relief is improper and should be rejected by 

the Commission.  See, e.g. MidAmerica Bank, FSB v. Charter One Bank, FSN, 232 Ill.2d 560, 574-

575 (2009) ("A defendant is required to raise a claim for a setoff in the pleadings to give the 

plaintiff notice and an opportunity to defend against the claim"), citing Vieweg v. Freidman, 173 

Ill. app. 3d 471, 474 (1988); Mayfield v. Swafford, 106 Ill. App. 3d 610, 612 (1982); see also 

Hardy v. Dobler, 248 Ill. app. 361 (2d Dist. 1928) (“Under the pleadings, appellants could not 

recover a judgment against appellee, even on their version of the contract, as no plea of set-off was 

filed, and, in their notice of special defenses, appellants do not ask for a recovery over against [sic] 

appellee”).  Moreover, AT&T has put on no affirmative case regarding its billing, much less 

provided Cbeyond an opportunity to rebut it.  This case can only result in Cbeyond’s petition being 

granted, in whole or in part, or denied. 

                                                                                                                                                                
 
65  Staff Brief at p. 12-39. 
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III. CONCLUSION 

As a consequence of the foregoing, Cbeyond respectfully requests that the Commission 

grant its Complaint and Request for Declaratory Ruling, enter judgment in favor of Cbeyond and 

against AT&T, and that the Commission: 

A. Declare that AT&T ’s billing for services not provided to Cbeyond are: 
 
1. a material breach of the terms of the Interconnection Agreement between 
AT&T and Cbeyond; 
 
2. a violation of Section 13-514 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act;  
 
3. a violation of Section 13-801(b) of the Illinois Public Utilities Act; 
 
4. a violation of Section 9-250 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act; and, 
 

B. Order AT&T to cease and desist from its breaching the terms of the Interconnection 
Agreement with Cbeyond; 

 
C. Order AT&T to cease and desist from violating Section 13-514; 
 
D. Order AT&T to cease and desist from violating Section 13-801(b); 
 
E. Order AT&T to cease and desist from violating Section 9-250; 
 
F. Order AT&T to credit Cbeyond for all inappropriate charges imposed since 

inception; 
 
G. Order AT&T to pay to Cbeyond an amount equal to its direct, proximate and 

consequential damages, attorney fees and all other costs associated with bringing 
this action pursuant to Section 13-516(a)(3); 

 
H. Order AT&T to reimburse the Commission for the costs associated with proceeding 

pursuant to Section 13-515(g); 
 
I. Order AT&T to pay penalties of up to $30,000 or 0.00825% of the 

telecommunications carrier's gross intrastate annual telecommunications revenue, 
whichever is greater, per violation pursuant to Section 13-516(a)(2); 

 
J. Grant Cbeyond such other relief, including the imposition of penalties against 

AT&T , as mandated by statute or the Commission shall deem appropriate and just. 
 

    Respectfully Submitted, 
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Dated:  October  22, 2010   CBEYOND COMMUNICATIONS, LLC  
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Henry T. Kelly 
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Chicago, Illinois 60606 
(312) 857-2350 
HKelly@KelleyDrye.com 

 



 
 

 31

STATE OF ILLINOIS 
ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 
 
Cbeyond Communications, LLC    
-vs-        
Illinois Bell Telephone Company d/b/a 
AT&T Illinois 
 
Formal Complaint and Request for 
Declaratory Ruling pursuant to Sections 13-
515 and 10-108 of the Illinois Public Utilities 
Act 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
 
Docket No. 10-0188 

 

 

NOTICE OF FILING 
 
 Please take notice that on October 22, 2010, I caused to be filed via the Illinois Commerce 
Commission’s eDocket, Cbeyond Communications, LLC’s Response Brief.  A copy of the 
foregoing documents are hereby served upon you. 
 

         
      Henry T. Kelly, attorney for  
      Cbeyond Communications, LLC 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I, Henry T. Kelly, an attorney, on oath state that I served a copy of Cbeyond 
Communications, LLC’s Response Brief on the service list maintained on the Illinois Commerce 
Commission’s eDocket system for the instant docket via electronic delivery on October 22, 2010. 

 

_ ___ 
Henry T. Kelly 

 
Kelley Drye & Warren LLP 
333 W. Wacker Drive 
Suite 2600 
Chicago, Illinois 60606 
(312) 857-7070 
(312) 857-7095 (Facsimile) 

 
 


